IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Damaso S. Puente, individually and on behalf of the Estate of Damaso I. Puente; Maria Puente; Daniel Malone; and Diane Malone, individually and on behalf of the Estate of Christa Puente,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents, vs.

Dave & Buster's of Nevada, Inc., d/b/a Dave & Buster's,

Electronically Filed Aug 09 2021 08:51 p.m. Elizabeth A, Brown Supreme Clerk of Supreme Court Appeal of District Court No. A813787

Respondent/Cross Appellant.

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

CHRISTENSEN LAW OFFICES, LLC. THOMAS F. CHRISTENSEN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 2326 1000 S. Valley View Blvd. Las Vegas, Nevada 89107 Telephone: (702) 870-1000 courtnotices@injuryhelpnow.com

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this matter because it is an appeal from an order certified as final in a case granting a motion to dismiss certain claims then granting summary judgment on the remaining claim. The Order granting Dave and Buster's motion for summary judgment was filed on January 26, 2021. Notice of Entry of that Order was filed on January 26, 2021, and the Notice of Entry was served that same day by electronic service through the Eighth Judicial District Court electronic filing system. No tolling motions were filed following the Notice of Entry of Order in this matter.

At the time the order appealed from was entered, there were other claims in the suit pending against other parties, but the order with regard to Dave and Buster's was certified pursuant to NRCP 54(b).

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11) and (12), Appellant believes the Nevada Supreme Court should retain this appeal because it raises as a principal issue a question of first impression involving the Nevada Constitution or common law and raises as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does serving "an alcoholic beverage" under NRS 41.1305 abrogate the common law and NRS 41.130, which provide for damages resulting from wrongful act, neglect or default?

Does NRCP 56(d) require the Court to allow discovery on factual issues that Plaintiff has alleged to support valid causes of action, when Plaintiff has presented a declaration that it can present further facts to justify its opposition with discovery of facts that are exclusively in the control, possession and custody of the moving defendant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 15, 2018, two Nevada citizens were stopped at a light when their vehicle was rear-ended at high speed by a drunk driver, killing them both. The Appellants are the family of the deceased: Damaso S. Puente, individually and on behalf of the Estate of Damaso I. Puente, Maria Puente, Daniel Malone and Diane Malone, individually and on behalf of the Estate of Christa Puente. The Respondent is the local tavern that illegally furnished alcohol to the drunk driver: Dave & Buster's of Nevada, Inc., dba Dave & Buster's.

The date the proceedings commenced in District Court was April 17, 2020, when the original complaint was filed. Allegations of the complaint alleged facts which supported multiple causes of action against Respondent Dave & Buster's of Nevada, Inc., (hereinafter "Dave & Buster's"). The complaint alleged facts supporting a cause of action for Dave and Buster's wrongful act, neglect or default under NRS 41.130, as a matter of law, for violation of codes that make it illegal to serve alcohol to an intoxicated person. The complaint also alleged facts supporting causes of action against Dave & Buster's for negligence, gross negligence, willful and wanton misconduct, strict products liability, breach of express and implied warranties, acting in concert in an abnormally dangerous activity, negligent supervision and hiring. The allegations in the complaint against Dave & Buster's alleged actions and inactions, some of which were wanton and willful misconduct, which each result in liability under the common law. See *Davies v. Butler*, 95 Nev. 763, 773 (Nev. 1980).

Dave & Buster's filed a Motion to Dismiss on May 20, 2020. In response to Dave & Buster's Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiff argued NRS 41.1305(1), which has yet to be interpreted by any appellate court in Nevada, by its language, does not eliminate any of the Plaintiffs' causes of action, nor give liquor vendors a license to kill in Nevada. The Court denied the Motion, but ordered the Plaintiffs to file an amended Complaint. The Amended Complaint was filed on August 7, 2020 and even more clearly alleged facts supporting multiple different causes of action against Dave & Buster's. The Amended Complaint also continued to allege that NRS 41.1305, if applied as Dave & Buster's suggested in its first Motion to Dismiss, is unconstitutional.

Dave & Buster's then filed a Renewed Motion to Dismiss on August 14, 2020. The Court determined NRS 41.1305 did not bar all actions of negligence. The court found that only one specific set of facts— that Dave & Buster's initiated the tort by helping Aparicio to his car — could support a claim for relief. The Court therefore granted in part and denied in part the renewed motion. The Court's order concluded NRS 41.1305 did not bar a negligence cause of action, but that the only actionable negligence possible would be in assisting the drunk driver to the vehicle he drove. Negligence as a matter of law for violation of Clark County code 8.20.300 was disregarded by the court. The violation of internal standards designed by Dave & Buster's to prevent the very harm of drunk driving was also disregarded by the Court.

Following initial productions, Dave & Buster's then filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on December 3, 2020, claiming no issues of fact remained with regard to anyone from Dave & Buster's assisting the drunk driver to the vehicle he drove. The summary judgment was opposed by Plaintiff's with evidence of violations by Dave and Buster's of its internal protocols and Clark County codes with regard to the responsible service of alcohol. Plaintiff alleged that such action was at least as negligent as helping the driver to his vehicle and that such negligence was not barred. Plaintiffs further requested NRCP 56(d) relief since discovery had only recently commenced and the Plaintiffs were in an inferior position to have access to evidence. Plaintiffs were merely the grieving survivors, were not present when the alcohol was served, and therefore had limited ability to contest the motion without any discovery. The Court agreed with Dave & Buster's, granted its Motion for Summary Judgment and certified the order per Rule 54(b). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 15, 2018, two Nevada citizens were killed by a drunk driver when stopped at a light and rear-ended at high speed. (AA459). Allegations of the complaint alleged facts which supported multiple different causes of action against Appellant Dave & Buster's of Nevada, Inc., (hereinafter "Dave & Buster's"). *Id.* The allegations included that Dave and Buster's committed a wrongful act, neglect or default under NRS 41.130, as a matter of law, for violation of codes making it illegal to serve alcohol to an intoxicated person. (AA002) Plaintiff's Complaint also alleged facts supporting causes of action against Dave & Buster's for negligence, gross negligence, willful and wanton misconduct, strict products liability, breach of express and implied warranties, acting in concert in an abnormally dangerous activity, negligent supervision and hiring. *Id.*

Specific facts that were alleged include, but were not limited to, that Dave & Buster's served alcohol to obviously intoxicated people, which was contrary to law and in violation of internal policies and procedures of Dave & Buster's which were designed for protection of guests. (AA014, 017-018) Further allegations were that that Dave & Buster's had a special relationship with the patrons that were over-served because they were frequent guests and that they were incentivized to drink at Dave & Buster's because there was no restriction on service and financial benefit was given. (AA005) Also, it was alleged that Dave & Buster's promotion and service of alcohol in this instance was contrary to the level of responsible service required of a liquor license holders in Clark County and that the patrons in this instance were over served to the point where they could not make informed decisions. (AA015) It was alleged that it was foreseeable that the over-served patron would drive in an inebriated state. Further, the amended complaint specifically alleged that Dave and Buster's failed in its duty to provide a safe situation for its guests by failing to train and supervise employees, failing to monitor and enforce responsible service of alcoholic beverages. (AA133) Further, the complaint alleged that Defendants' actions were not protected by NRS 41.1305 as they were outside of simply the limited "serves, sells or otherwise furnishes" alcoholic beverages and were violations of the county code and internal procedures developed to protect third party guests. All of these allegations, and more, are found in the Complaint and Amended Complaint in Appellants Appendix Documents 1 and 7, both of which are in Volume I.

The initial Motion to Dismiss was denied on July 13, 2020. (AA074) On renewed motion, the lower Court granted Dave & Buster's Motion to Dismiss on all but one specific set of facts. (AA473) Thereafter, the Court granted Summary Judgment to Dave & Buster's on that remaining set of facts without allowing Plaintiffs to do adequate discovery. (AA507-509)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is improper for a Court to dismiss a Complaint containing adequately pled causes of action against a liquor provider for wrongful act, neglect or default under NRS 41.130 for violation of codes making it illegal to serve alcohol to intoxicated persons. NRS 41.1305(1) cannot be interpreted as a complete bar to liability. This approach is contrary to the United States Constitution, the Nevada Constitution, and the legislative intent and essentially results in servers of alcohol having no regulation or requirement for responsible behavior. Such an interpretation incentivizes irresponsible service and promotion of alcohol which is detrimental to the Nevada public. There is no legitimate state purpose to be promoted by this broad grant of immunity to a particular industry to participate with the state in depriving certain of its citizens life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness without due process of law.

The complaint alleged facts supporting causes of action against Dave & Buster's for wrongful act, neglect or default under NRS 41.130, negligence, gross negligence, willful and wanton misconduct, strict products liability, breach of express and implied warranties, acting in concert in an abnormally dangerous activity, negligent supervision and hiring. These multiple allegations in the complaint against Dave & Buster's alleged actions and inactions, some of which were wanton and willful misconduct, have resulted in liability under the common law. See *Davies v. Butler*, 95 Nev. 763, 773 (Nev. 1980). The Motions to Dismiss should not have been granted.

The lower court also should not have denied a request for discovery to develop the record when the Plaintiffs (survivors of the victims) had no ability to obtain the information other than through discovery. See NRCP 54(d). At the outset of discovery, Dave & Buster's filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, claiming no issues of fact existed with regard to anyone from Dave & Buster's assisting the drunk driver to the vehicle he drove.¹ The summary judgment was opposed by plaintiffs with evidence of violations of Dave & Buster's internal protocols and statutes and a request for NRCP 56(d) relief since discovery had only recently commenced. Plaintiffs alleged the conduct of disregarding internal protocols pertaining to excessive service were at least as negligent as helping the drunk driver to his vehicle. The Court should have allowed Plaintiffs the opportunity to do discovery and develop the record with regard to the negligence of Dave & Buster's. Plaintiff also requested discovery regarding legislative intent and other information to develop an appropriate record for the constitutional challenge.

¹ This is the one claim the Court allowed to proceed after the Motions to Dismiss were decided.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

26

27

28

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review: de novo

There are three basic categories of decisions reviewable on appeal, each with its own standard of review: decisions on "questions of law" are "reviewable *de novo*," decisions on "questions of fact" are "reviewable for clear error," and decisions on "matters of discretion" are "reviewable for 'abuse of discretion." *Pierce v. Underwood,* 487 U.S. 552, 558 (1988).

In this instance, the Court, in granting the alcohol server's Motion to Dismiss and later granting the Motion for Summary Judgment without adequate discovery, has made errors of law, which are reviewable de novo. As the Court has previously recognized in a case with similar procedural posture:

> The City's motion to dismiss Buzz Stew's complaint under NRCP 12(b)(5) "is subject to a rigorous standard of review on appeal." Accordingly, this court will recognize all factual allegations in Buzz Stew's complaint as true and draw all inferences in its favor. Buzz Stew's complaint should be dismissed only if it appears beyond a doubt that it could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle it to relief. We review the district court's legal conclusions de novo." *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227-28 (Nev. 2008).

In reviewing orders granting motions to dismiss, this court considers whether the challenged pleading sets forth allegations sufficient to establish the elements of a right to relief. *Pemberton v. Farmers Ins. Exchange*, 109 Nev. 789, 792, 858 P.2d 380, 381 (1993). In making its determination, this court is to accept all factual allegations in the complaint as true. *Id.* at 792, 858 P.2d at 381 (citing *Marcoz v. Summa Corporation*, 106 Nev. 737, 739, 801 P.2d 1346, 1347 (1990))." *Nevada Power Co. v. Haggerty*, 115 Nev. 353, 358 (Nev. 1999).

This Court also reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo, without deference to the findings of the lower court. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 P. 3d 1026 (2005). When reviewing a Motion for Summary Judgment, the evidence and any reasonable inferences drawn from it must be viewed in light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.*, citing *Lipps v. Southern Nevada Paving*, 116 Nev. 497, 498, 998 P.2d 1183, 1184 (2000) (citing *Butler v. Bogdanovich*, 101 Nev. 449, 451, 705 P.2d 662, 663 (1985)).

Finally, and perhaps most importantly, this case raises the issue of constitutionality of an amended statute, as interpreted by the lower Court, which is a pure question of law and the reviewing court must evaluate de novo and strive to interpret harmoniously with the legislative intent.

Statutory interpretation is a question of law that this court reviews de novo. We interpret statutes in accordance with their plain meaning and generally do not look beyond the plain language of the statute absent ambiguity. Furthermore, "it is the duty of this court, when possible, to interpret provisions within a common statutory scheme 'harmoniously with one another in accordance with the general purpose of those statutes' and to avoid unreasonable or absurd results, thereby giving effect to the Legislature's intent."" *Torrealba v. Kesmetis*, 124 Nev. 95, 101 (Nev. 2008).

It is clear that this court reviews questions of constitutional interpretation de

novo. Ramsey v. City of N. Las Vegas, 133 Nev. 96, 392 P. 3d 614 (2017.)

II. Taking the allegations of the complaint as true, Plaintiffs alleged valid causes of action against Dave & Buster's

The allegations in the complaint against the alcohol server herein, Dave & Buster's, alleged actions and inactions, some of which were wanton and willful misconduct, which resulted in liability under the common law. See *Davies v. Butler*, 95 Nev. 763, 773 (Nev. 1980). These allegations must be taken as true in the evaluation of the Motions to Dismiss. We rigorously review NRCP 12(b)(5) dismissals on appeal, presuming all factual allegations in the complaint as true and drawing all inferences in the complainant's favor. *Patush v. Las Vegas Bistro, LLC*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 46 (2019), quoting, *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227-28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008). Dismissal is appropriate "only if it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle [the plaintiff] to relief." *Id.* at 228, 181 P.3d at 672.

The complaint herein further alleges claims for negligence, gross negligence, willful and wanton misconduct, strict products liability, breach of express and implied warranties, acting in concert in an abnormally dangerous activity, negligent supervision and hiring, and negligence per se. (AA080) NRS 41.1305(1), by its language, does not eliminate any of these causes of action alleged in the complaint, nor give alcohol servers a carte blanche license to over-serve and act irresponsibly in Nevada. Irresponsible service and access to

alcohol often results in tragedy, which is why it is regulated. The statute **does not** authorize serving alcohol to an already drunk individual, whether that person is a minor or an adult. The plain language makes that clear. A statute must clearly remove rights established under common law or the common law is still operative. In the absence of statutory restrictions of the common law right . . ., then the common law rule must prevail, and the question be determined by such rule only. *Mandlebaum v. Gregovich*, 24 Nev. 154, 160 (Nev. 1897).

The complaint and the amended complaint herein allege that Dave and Buster's participated in willful and wanton misconduct, violated laws enacted to protect the public, knew, facilitated and participated with a driver in driving drunk, introduced a defective product into commerce, provided alcohol to an already intoxicated person, failed to follow company policy established to protect the public from the very harm that occured, and that, acting in concert with a drunk driver, deprived the Puentes of their lives. (AA Documents 1 and 7). As is apparent from a review of the legislative history, NRS 41.1305(1) was not intended by the legislature to eliminate or limit any common law causes of action, nor to restrict the continuing development of the common law as it relates to these causes of action. (AA 144-414). The Court **must construe** the pleadings liberally and accept all factual allegations in the Complaint as true. *Blackjack Bonding v. City of Las Vegas* Municipal Court, 116 Nev. 1217 (2000). If the allegations within the complaints in

this case are true, valid causes of action survive dismissal.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

III. NRS 41.1305 extends the common law and should be interpreted to protect the citizens of Nevada.

NRS 41.1305(1) has never been interpreted by a Nevada appellate court; but,

if it is interpreted as a complete bar to all causes of action, it is unconstitutional.

In its entirety, the amended statute is as follows:

NRS 41.1305 Liability of person who serves, sells or furnishes alcoholic beverages for damages caused as a result of consumption of alcoholic beverage: No liability if person served is 21 years of age or older; liability in certain circumstances if person served is under 21 years of age; exception to liability; damages, attorney's fees and costs.

1. A person who serves, sells or otherwise furnishes an alcoholic beverage to another person who is 21 years of age or older is not liable in a civil action for any damages caused by the person to whom the alcoholic beverage was served, sold or furnished as a result of the consumption of the alcoholic beverage.

2. Except as otherwise provided in this section, a person who:

(a) Knowingly serves, sells or otherwise furnishes an alcoholic beverage to an underage person; or

(b) Knowingly allows an underage person to consume an alcoholic beverage on premises or in a conveyance belonging to the person or over which the person has control,

 \hat{E} is liable in a civil action for any damages caused by the underage person as a result of the consumption of the alcoholic beverage.

3. The liability created pursuant to subsection 2 does not apply to a person who is licensed to serve, sell or furnish alcoholic beverages or to a person who is an employee or agent of such a person for any act or failure to act that occurs during the course of business or employment and any such act or failure to act may not be used to establish proximate cause in a civil action and does not constitute negligence per se.

4. A person who prevails in an action brought pursuant to subsection 2 may recover the person's actual damages, attorney's fees and costs and any punitive damages that the facts may warrant.

5. As used in this section, "underage person" means a person who is less than 21 years of age. (Added to NRS by 1995, 2667; A 2007, 589)

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