1	WILSON ELSER WILSON ELSER WILSON ELSER MOSKOWITZ PODI MAN B. DICKER LIP		
2	MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10666		
3	E-mail: Michael.Lowry@wilsonelser.com Electronically Filed Sep 08 2021 10:37 a.	.m.	
4	Las Vegas, NV 89119 Tel: 702.727.1400/Fax: 702.727.1401  Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Cou	urt	
5	Attorneys for Dave & Buster's of Nevada, Inc.		
6	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA		
7	Damaso S. Puente, individually and on Supreme Ct. No.: 82554		
8	Maria Puente; Daniel Malone; Diane Respondent's Answering Brief		
9	Malone, individually and on behalf of the Estate of Christa Puente,		
10	Appellants		
11	VS.		
12	Dave & Buster's of Nevada, Inc.,		
13	Respondent

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

### **Summary of the Argument**

The Puentes argue Dave & Buster's is vicariously responsible for Aparicio's actions because he consumed alcohol at Dave & Buster's that night and later drove drunk, damaging them. However, NRS 41.1305(1) makes the person who drove drunk responsible for his actions, not the person or business that served him. This statute applies to the facts alleged, is not ambiguous, is not subject to any exception, and is constitutional. But even if unconstitutional, the Puentes could not have sued Dave & Buster's under Nevada's common law that existed before NRS 41.1305(1) was enacted.

 $<sup>^{23}</sup>$  *Id.* at AA454-AA467.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Appendix Vol. 3 at AA507-509.

### Argument

## 1. The motion to dismiss should have been granted in full.

### a. Standard of Review

An order granting an NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss is reviewed de novo.<sup>25</sup> The facts alleged presumed true and all inferences drawn in favor of the plaintiff.<sup>26</sup> Dismissing a complaint is appropriate "only if it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle [the plaintiff] to relief."<sup>27</sup> "Statutory interpretation is a question of law, which this court reviews de novo."<sup>28</sup>

## b. NRS 41.1305(1) applies to the facts alleged.

Read as a whole, the amended complaint alleged that 1) Dave & Buster's sold alcoholic beverages; 2) sold them to Aparicio; 3) Aparicio then drove drunk; and 4) damaged the Puentes. The Puentes assert this makes Dave & Buster's vicariously liable for Aparicio's actions, but NRS 41.1305(1) expressly prohibits this exact type of liability.

A person who serves, sells or otherwise furnishes an alcoholic beverage to another person who is 21 years of age or older is not liable in a civil action for any damages caused by the person to whom

6

257656840v.2

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 227-28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008).

<sup>19</sup>  $\| ^{26} Id.$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> *Id.* at 228, 181 P.3d at 672.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Branch Banking & Tr. Co. v. Windhaven & Tollway, LLC, 131 Nev. 155, 158, 347 P.3d 1038, 1040 (2015).

1	$\mathcal{U}$	
2	consumption of the alcoholic beverage. <sup>29</sup>	
3	NRS 41.1305(1) is broken out into its constituent parts below.	
4	• A person who serves, sells or otherwise furnishes an alcoholic beverage to another person: The Puentes alleged Dave & Buster's	
5	sold at least one alcoholic beverage to Aparicio.	
6	• who is 21 years of age or older: The Puentes did not allege Aparicio was less than 21.	
7		
8	• is not liable in a civil action for any damages: The Puentes filed a civil action for damages against Dave & Buster's.	
9	• caused by the person to whom the alcoholic beverage was served, sold or furnished: The Puentes alleged Aparicio damaged them.	
10		
11	• as a result of the consumption of the alcoholic beverage: The Puentes alleged Aparicio damaged because he drove drunk.	
12	NRS 41.1305(1) squarely applies to the facts alleged in the amended complaint.	
13	c. NRS 41.1305(1) is not ambiguous.	
14	The Puentes argued below that NRS 41.1305(1) was ambiguous. The	
15	district court disagreed, concluded NRS 41.1305(1) is unambiguous, and refused to	
16	consider legislative history. The Puentes' opening brief does not argue that ruling	
17	was error, waiving the point. <sup>30</sup>	
18		
19	29 NRS 41.1305(1). NRS 41.1305(2) creates the only exception, but the Puentes	
20	did not allege it applies.  30 Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 127 Nev. 156, 161 n.3, 252 P.3d 668, 672 (2011) ("Issues not raised in an appellant's opening brief are deemed waived.").	

## d. NRS 41.1305(1) applies to the Puentes' causes of action.

The Puentes assert NRS 41.1305(1)'s language "does not eliminate any of [the] causes of action alleged in the complaint..." because the causes are not expressly listed.<sup>31</sup> This reads NRS 41.1305(1) too narrowly. As drafted, the statute bars liability for damages arising from a certain fact pattern. The Legislature was not required to list every conceivable cause of action that might arise from that fact pattern. Instead, the Legislature clearly defined a fact pattern from which liability for damages is not permitted.

The Puentes alternatively argue that NRS 41.1305(1) modified Nevada's common law and must be narrowly construed. Courts "presume that a statute does not modify common law unless such intent is explicitly stated." Statutes that derogate "the common law should be strictly construed, and, if there is any doubt as to the statute's meaning, the court should interpret the statute in the way that least changes the common law."

This argument is misplaced because the Puentes had no common law causes of action against Dave & Buster's before NRS 41.1305(1) was created in 1995.

Before then, the Supreme Court had repeatedly refused to allow a tort claims arising out of the distribution of alcohol. It instead concluded the proximate cause

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Opening Brief at 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Branch Banking, 131 Nev. at 158-59, 347 P.3d at 1040.

 $<sup>^{33}</sup>$  *Id*.

of any damage caused by a person who has consumed alcohol is the *consumption* of alcohol itself, not its *distribution*.<sup>34</sup> NRS 41.1305(1) is consistent with that common law.

The motivation for NRS 41.1305 may have been *Hinegardner v. Marcor Resorts*, which refused in 1992 to allow such a claim even against vendors who served alcohol to minors.<sup>35</sup> NRS 41.1305 was then enacted in 1995 and expressly allowed liability for damages only when minors are served.

### e. Other statutes and case law do not change the result.

The Puentes also seem to argue that NRS 41.1305(1) does not bar potential vicarious liability against Dave & Buster's because Dave & Buster's would still be liable for its employees' potential negligence through NRS 41.130. However these two statutes do not conflict here. NRS 41.130 creates vicarious liability for the actions of employees, then NRS 41.1305(1) limits that liability in certain factual scenarios.

The Puentes also argue Dave & Buster's could be liable for Aparicio's actions via Clark County Code 8.20.300. But the Puentes do not explain how a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Hamm v. Carson City Nugget, Inc., 85 Nev. 99, 450 P.2d 358 (1969); Snyder v. Viani, 110 Nev. 1339, 885 P.2d 610 (1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> 108 Nev. 1091, 844 P.2d 800 (1992).

county code could create liability that a statute bars.<sup>36</sup> "[C]ounties are legislative 1 subdivisions of the state. Because counties obtain their authority from the 2 legislature, county ordinances are subordinate to statutes if the two conflict."<sup>37</sup> 3

The Puentes also speculate Dave & Buster's may not have complied with the alcoholic beverage education requirements in NRS 369.600-635.38 NRS 369.630 outlines the potential liability if the educational requirements are not met. The only liability is an administrative fine. NRS 369.630 creates administrative liability if employees do not complete certain training requirements. It does not create civil liability, which is consistent with NRS 41.1305(1).

The Puentes also cite *Billingsley v. Stockmen's Hotel*, but the case did not concern liquor liability like the Puentes wish to impose here.<sup>39</sup> Billingsley was about an altercation between hotel security and a guest who was being escorted off property. No argument was presented about whether the hotel could be liable for damages for serving him alcohol.

Finally, the Puentes' citations to decisions from Idaho and Michigan are irrelevant given that Nevada law has already considered this topic.

18

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

<sup>17</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Rest., 122 Nev. 317, 330 n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 (2006) (stating that courts need not consider claims that are not cogently argued or supported by relevant authority).

<sup>19</sup> <sup>37</sup> Falcke & Herbig Props. v. Cty. of Douglas, 116 Nev. 583, 588, 3 P.3d 661, 664 (2000).20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Opening Brief at 21:16-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Billingsley v. Stockmen's Hotel, 111 Nev. 1033, 901 P.2d 141 (1995).

## f. NRS 41.1305(1) is constitutional.

If NRS 41.1305(1) otherwise applies, the Puentes argue it is unconstitutional. No Nevada appellate court has yet ruled on this argument. "Statutes are presumed to be valid, and the challenger bears the burden of showing that a statute is unconstitutional. In order to meet that burden, the challenger must make a clear showing of invalidity."<sup>40</sup> "When the law … does not implicate a suspect class or fundamental right, it will be upheld as long as it is rationally related to a legitimate government interest."<sup>41</sup>

The Supreme Court of Nevada has repeatedly ruled that the right to sue for damages "does not involve a fundamental constitutional right." When a fundamental constitutional right is not implicated, the Legislature may restrict court access "if there exists a rational basis for doing so." The rational basis test does not allow a court to "superimpose its own preferences on the work product of a coordinate branch of government." The Puentes do not dispute that NRS 41.1305(1) is subject to a rational basis review.

At least two other jurisdictions have considered rational basis challenges to statutes substantively similar to NRS 41.1305(1). Wisconsin's Supreme Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Tam v. Dist. Ct., 131 Nev. 792, 796, 358 P.3d 234, 237-38 (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Zamora v. Price, 125 Nev. 388, 395, 213 P.3d 490, 495 (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Barrett v. Baird, 111 Nev. 1496, 1507, 908 P.2d 689, 697 (1995); Tam, 131 Nev. at 796, 358 P.3d at 237-38.

 $<sup>^{43}</sup>$  *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Allen v. State, 100 Nev. 130, 136, 676 P.2d 792, 796 (1984).

concluded its statute satisfied the rational basis test, noting that distinguishing between two groups of persons who furnish alcoholic beverages to others was rationally related to the legitimate governmental purpose of protecting persons under the legal drinking age.<sup>45</sup> NRS 41.1305(1) does the same thing.

Wyoming's Supreme Court considered a similar statute in *Greenwalt v. Ram Rest. Corp*. <sup>46</sup> The statute at issue read "[n]o person who has legally provided alcoholic liquor or malt beverage to any other person is liable for damages caused by the intoxication of the other person." *Greenwalt* noted many potential reasons a legislature might have that could satisfy a rational basis test.

[T]he legislature could reasonably have concluded that the full nature and scope of the liability and immunity of all alcohol providers, licensed vendors and non-licensed persons alike, was uncertain. ... The legislature could have rationally thought that it must create a comprehensive, yet simple to administer tort claim to cover all liquor providers and intoxicated persons. It could have rationally thought that the establishment of an unquestioned and predictable yet limited basis for legal liability would provide a more effective incentive for the responsible furnishing of alcohol and the realization of the primary purpose. 48

Ultimately, a legislature is not required to "draw its lines with mathematical certainty or even that it exercise its policy-making judgment in the best or wisest

<sup>19 | 45</sup> Doering v. WEA Ins. Group, 532 N.W.2d 432 (Wis. 1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> 71 P.3d 717 (Wyo. 2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> W.S. § 12-8-301(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> *Greenwalt*, 71 P.3d at 738.

way. We hold that the legislative classifications at issue are rationally related to the legislative objectives of" the statute.<sup>49</sup>

The rational bases that Wisconsin and Wyoming found for their statutes are equally applicable in Nevada. NRS 41.1305(1) is rationally related to any of these legitimate government interests, so its restrictions upon access to the courts are constitutionally sound.

### g. The district erred by creating an exception to NRS 41.1305(1).

The district court denied Dave & Buster's motion to dismiss as to one, narrow point. It concluded "NRS 41.1305(1) does not bar a cause of action against Dave & Buster's to the extent that Dave & Buster's agents or employees may have assisted Mr. Aparicio to the vehicle he drove that was then involved in the collision....<sup>50</sup> This ruling was erroneous for two reasons.

First, in the factual context of this case if such a duty existed it would conflict with NRS 41.1305(1). The Puentes allege Aparicio was drunk because Dave & Buster's served alcohol to him. The district court's ruling created both a duty and potential liability for damages precisely because Dave & Buster's served alcohol to him. But NRS 41.1305(1) expressly prohibits liability for damages arising from that conduct.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Appendix Vol. 2 at AA473.

Second, the Supreme Court of Nevada rejected the idea that Dave & 1 Buster's owed a duty once Aparicio left the premises. In Rodriguez v. Primadonna 2 Co., LLC three men were ejected from a casino for being drunk and disorderly. 3 After being ejected, they were subsequently involved in a motor vehicle accident. 4 One of the injured parties sued the casino. Rodriguez first noted "it is well settled 5 in Nevada that commercial liquor vendors, including hotel proprietors, cannot be 6 held liable for damages related to any injuries caused by the intoxicated patron, 7 which are sustained by either the intoxicated patron or a third party."51 8 Consequently, "when a hotel proprietor rightly evicts a disorderly, intoxicated 9 patron, the hotel proprietor is not liable for any torts that an evicted patron commits 10 after he or she is evicted that result in injury."52 This meant "because Nevada 11 commercial alcohol vendors are not liable for injuries sustained by intoxicated 12 13 patrons, [the hotel] did not have a duty to ensure safe transportation for the young men, keep Fabian on the premises, or otherwise prevent injuries subsequent to their 14 eviction."53 15 16 Therefore, although the Primadonna may have known that Fabian's step-uncle was intoxicated and could not safely drive, we conclude, as 17 a matter of law, that Primadonna did not have the duty to arrange safer transportation, prevent an intoxicated driver from driving, or prevent

Fabian, a passenger, from riding with a drunk driver. In so

concluding, we note that it would be contrary to existing authority for

19

20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> 125 Nev. 578, 585, 216 P.3d 793, 798 (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> *Id.*, 216 P.3d at 798-99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> *Id.* at 587, 216 P.3d at 800.

<sup>55</sup> Appendix Vol. 2 at AA473.

this court to hold otherwise and require a proprietor to monitor the intoxication level or other factors related to patrons who elect to drive while intoxicated or who engage in other dangerous activity after they are evicted.<sup>54</sup>

Applied here, Aparicio left Dave & Buster's of his own accord; he was not evicted or asked to leave. Regardless, once he left the premises, whatever duties Dave & Buster's might have owed ended for the reasons that *Rodriguez* described.

The district court should have granted Dave & Buster's motion to dismiss in whole. If so, then it is unnecessary to reach the part of this appeal concerning the motion for summary judgment.

### 2. The Puentes did not meet their burden to obtain NRCP 56(d) relief.

After ruling on Dave & Buster's motion to dismiss, the Puentes' only viable theory against Dave & Buster's was "to the extent that Dave & Buster's agents or employees may have assisted Mr. Aparicio to the vehicle he drove that was then involved in the collision....<sup>55</sup> Dave & Buster's obtained admissible evidence identifying that person and that he was an employee of Casa del Matador, not Dave & Buster's. Dave & Buster's moved for summary judgment relying upon that evidence and the district court then granted it.

The Puentes' appeal of that order is narrow. They do not contest the district court's ruling as to the admissibility of the evidence Dave & Buster's presented

<sup>54</sup> *Id*.

	Ш	
1		
2		
3		
4		
5		
6		
7		
8		
9		
10		
11		
12		
13

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